IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-564

SCA EFiled: Oct 11 2022 03:12PM EDT

Transaction ID 68238011

ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION, and BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

J. Zak Ritchie (WVSB #11705)

Counsel of Record

HISSAM FORMAN DONOVAN RITCHIE PLLC
P.O. Box 3983

Charleston, WV 25339

(681) 265-3802 office

(304) 982-8056 fax

zritchie@hfdrlaw.com

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal arises from AmerisourceBergen's continued efforts to have the West Virginia courts block litigation from proceeding in courts of other states.

On appeal of the first injunction, this Court adopted the standard, well-established in federal courts and other state courts, that, due to concerns of interstate respect and comity, antisuit injunctions are to be granted "sparingly" and only in "very special circumstances." St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., 868 S.E.2d 724, 733 (W. Va. 2021). When defendant St. Paul initiated litigation in California that was parallel to litigation already proceeding in West Virginia, this Court held that the "exceptional remedy" of an anti-suit injunction *might* be appropriate based on the Circuit Court's statement that St. Paul initiated that suit for "improper purposes." *Id.* at 734, 736. Notwithstanding that conclusion, however, this Court reversed the original anti-suit injunction as "overbroad" because it limited the parties' ability to "effectively respond[]" to crossclaims filed by other insurers that were not—and are not—parties here. Id. at 736–37. This Court instructed "that the circuit court's order should have clearly and finely tailored a connection between the relief sought in ABDC's West Virginia action and the prohibition of the parties' actions in California." *Id.* at 737. Since the Court issued its decision, the non-party insurers that filed crossclaims in California have dropped those claims and initiated new coverage actions in Delaware against AmerisourceBergen. One of those actions also names ACE and St. Paul as defendants.

On remand, AmerisourceBergen renewed its motion for an anti-suit injunction. In granting that motion, the Circuit Court made findings that were focused entirely on whether the injunction could be supported as to *St. Paul's California action*. The Circuit Court again found that the injunction was warranted because of the finding that St. Paul's "California Coverage Action was filed for improper purposes, namely forum shopping and the disruption of the orderly

resolution of the West Virginia Coverage Action." SPApp.13019 ¶ 129 (quotation marks and alterations omitted). But the Circuit Court did not—and could not—find that the non-party insurers filed the Delaware actions for an improper purpose. In fact, the Circuit Court did not analyze the Delaware actions at all. Nevertheless, the Circuit Court imposed a new injunction that enjoined ACE from litigating in the Delaware actions. Specifically, the renewed injunction enjoins "[a]ll parties" "from instituting or prosecuting *any* collateral litigation . . . for the prescription opioid liability lawsuits against ABC, ABDC, or any other affiliated entity." SPApp.13041 (emphasis added). Because that injunction prevents ACE from responding to claims filed against it in Delaware, it is unsupported by the Circuit Court's findings, overbroad, and must be reversed.

First, this Court instructed that to support an anti-suit injunction, the proponent must demonstrate both that a competing action is "substantially similar" and that "equity compels" the imposition of the injunction. St. Paul, 868 S.E. 2d at 734 (emphasis added). And even when those elements are satisfied, the injunction must "have clearly and finely tailored a connection" between the West Virginia action and the case that the parties are enjoined from litigating. Id. at 737. Thus, under this Court's prior decision—and case law around the country governing antisuit injunctions—the mere existence of parallel litigation standing alone is insufficient to justify an anti-suit injunction. Accordingly, the renewed injunction must be reversed or, at a minimum, modified because, other than noting the existence of the non-party insurers' Delaware actions, AmerisourceBergen presented no argument and the Circuit Court made no findings that could support an anti-suit injunction as to those Delaware actions. The renewed injunction is thus "an abuse of discretion in its breadth and focus," just like its predecessor was. Id. at 736.

Second, even if the Circuit Court had considered whether equity compelled an anti-suit injunction as to the Delaware actions (which, again, it did not), the record cannot support one.

Unlike with the California action, for which this Court held a narrower anti-suit injunction could potentially lie based on the statement that St. Paul initiated that case with "improper motives," that predicate is inapplicable to the Delaware actions. The Delaware plaintiffs are all non-parties in the West Virginia action. AmerisourceBergen has no argument that any of the parties to this case initiated the Delaware actions to circumvent or disrupt this litigation. In fact, the reason the Delaware plaintiff insurers are absent from the West Virginia action is simply because AmerisourceBergen chose not to include them. Accordingly, AmerisourceBergen's own strategic choice to bring a coverage action in West Virginia that included some—but not all—of its general liability insurers, seeking coverage under some—but not all—of their insurance policies, for some—but not all—of the underlying opioid lawsuits, created the possibility that non-party insurers would seek adjudication of their rights in separate litigation.

Moreover, leaving the injunction in place puts ACE in peril of substantial prejudice. As it stands, AmerisourceBergen, ACE, and St. Paul are all named as defendants in a Delaware action that will address whether AmerisourceBergen is entitled to insurance coverage for opioid lawsuits. Because the plaintiff insurer in that Delaware action issued policies to AmerisourceBergen in policy years earlier than ACE's policy years, with respect to certain coverage issues ACE's interests *run directly contrary to those of that Delaware plaintiff*. It is thus unfair to allow AmerisourceBergen—the proponent of the injunction—to be free to litigate issues of coverage against the Delaware plaintiffs, while the injunction forces ACE to run the risk that discovery is developed and substantive rulings are made in ACE's absence.

Accordingly, the injunction should be reversed or, at a minimum, modified to allow ACE to fully protect its interests in Delaware, including, if necessary, by filing crossclaims.

Third, separate insurance companies that are corporate affiliates of ACE also issued policies to certain AmerisourceBergen entities. To the extent the renewed injunction applies to those entities, it must be reversed or modified because they are not party to this action and thus not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by granting an anti-suit injunction as to the Delaware actions. It is well-established that the mere existence of competing parallel litigation is insufficient to support an anti-suit injunction. But other than noting the Delaware actions' existence, the Circuit Court focused entirely on whether an anti-suit injunction could lie with respect to the California action (which it found was filed with an "improper purpose"). The Circuit Court made no findings relevant to the Delaware actions, and thus it was legal error to issue an anti-suit injunction that applied to those actions.
- 2. The Circuit Court abused its discretion for the additional reason that the elements of the anti-suit injunction cannot be established as to the Delaware Actions. The Delaware Actions were not filed with any "improper purpose" of evading the West Virginia coverage action; in fact, the Delaware Actions were not even filed by parties to this case. Nor does enjoining ACE and St. Paul do anything to prevent a "threat" to the West Virginia action because the injunction does not (and could not) enjoin the Delaware plaintiffs who are not parties here. And the possibility of multiple, parallel suits was the natural result of AmerisourceBergen's strategic choice to bring a limited coverage action in West Virginia that included some, but not all, of its liability insurers. Worst of all, leaving the injunction in place will prejudice ACE's ability to effectively respond to the Delaware Actions, the same circumstance that warranted

reversal of the original injunction. For all these reasons, it was legal error to enter an anti-suit injunction that covered the Delaware actions.

3. Finally, at a minimum the Circuit Court abused its discretion to the extent it granted an anti-suit injunction that applies to affiliates of ACE that are not parties to the West Virginia action. Those entities are not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court, and therefore the injunction is legally improper to the extent it applies to them.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Amerisource Initiates The West Virginia Action Against A Small Subset Of Its General Liability Insurers.

In June 2012, the West Virginia Attorney General sued AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation ("ABDC," and, together with Bellco Drug Corporation, "AmerisourceBergen"), alleging that ABDC engaged in the "heavy distribution and sale of addictive controlled substances to Pill Mill pharmacies in unusually large quantities" despite knowing these drugs "would be diverted and/or improperly used thereby creating an unreasonable risk of harm" to the State. *State ex rel. Morrisey v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp.*, No. 12-C-1 41, 2014 WL 12814021, at *7 (W. Va. Cir. Ct., Boone Cnty. Dec. 12, 2014) (the "WVAG Lawsuit"). ABDC thus "put [its] desire for profits above and beyond [its] duty to put in place effective controls and procedures to prevent diversion of controlled substances." *Id.* at *8. In January 2017, ABDC settled the WVAG Lawsuit, agreeing to pay the State of West Virginia \$16 million. *See* SPApp.00199, SPApp.00201 (July 18, 2018 Am. Compl. ¶¶ 34, 37).

¹ St. Paul has also appealed the Order that is the subject of this appeal. See St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., (No. 22-575). In a separate filing today, the ACE Petitioners have moved to consolidate this appeal with St. Paul's appeal. In addition, for the convenience of the Court and the parties, the ACE Petitioners have not duplicated the materials already provided to the Court in the Appendix accompanying St. Paul's appeal brief. All references herein to "SPApp." are to St. Paul's Appendix. In the related appeal, St. Paul's brief details the reasons the order should be reversed in

In March 2017, ABDC commenced this action (the "West Virginia Action") seeking coverage for costs ABDC incurred defending and settling the WVAG Lawsuit and four other opioid-related lawsuits brought against it in West Virginia. Of the numerous insurance carriers from which it has purchased general liability policies, ABDC chose to name as defendants only ACE American Insurance Company and ACE Property & Casualty Insurance Company (together "ACE"), American Guaranty & Liability Insurance Company ("American Guarantee"), Endurance American Insurance Company ("Endurance"), and St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company ("St. Paul"). See SPApp.00137 (ABDC Mar. 17, 2017 Compl.).

In July 2018, AmerisourceBergen filed an amended complaint (the operative complaint) that identified a total of 50 underlying opioid lawsuits in West Virginia, including the WVAG Lawsuit, as the subjects of the coverage dispute. *See* SPApp.00216–18 (July 18, 2018 Am. Compl. ¶¶ 89, 93).² The first paragraph of the amended complaint made clear that the action relates to West Virginia opioid lawsuits only.³ AmerisourceBergen chose not to add any other insurers as defendants in its amended complaint.

On February 22, 2018, the Circuit Court entered an Order Granting Joint Motion For Bifurcation And Partial Stay. That order provided that "[1]itigation concerning ABDC's claim for coverage with respect to the WVAG Lawsuit will move forward, and . . . [1]itigation of

its entirety, and ACE joins those arguments. ACE's appeal, however, focuses on the injunction's overbroad, unsupported application to the Delaware Actions.

² During discovery, ABDC informed the insurer defendants of 165 opioid-related lawsuits in West Virginia.

³ See SPApp.00194–95 ("This is an insurance coverage action for (a) breach of contract, because of the Defendants' failure to defend and/or reimburse ABDC for . . . the prescription opioid lawsuit that the **State of West Virginia and other West Virginia state agencies filed against ABDC in 2012**, (b) breach of contract, because of Defendants' failure to defend and/or reimburse ABDC and Bellco for their defense costs in pending prescription opioid lawsuits filed against ABDC and Bellco in **West Virginia**, and (c) declaratory judgment . . . establishing that the Defendants' insurance policies provide coverage . . . in connection with prescription opioid lawsuits filed in this State." (emphases added)).

ABDC's claim for coverage with respect to the pending West Virginia Coverage Actions is stayed until further notice." SPApp.00188 (Feb. 22, 2018 Stay Order).

On July 8, 2022, the parties filed various motions for summary judgment, which the Circuit Court has scheduled for argument on October 17, 2022.

B. St. Paul Initiates A Coverage Action In California And The Circuit Court Enjoins All Parties From Litigating Parallel Coverage Litigation.

On November 5, 2020, St. Paul and four affiliated insurance companies that are not party to the West Virginia Action commenced an action in the Superior Court for the State of California in Orange County (the "California Action"). In the California Action, plaintiffs seek a declaration that they have no duty to defend or indemnify AmerisourceBergen with respect thousands of underlying opioid lawsuits not at issue in the West Virginia Action. *See* SPApp.03169, 03179, ¶¶ 1–5, 31 (Nov. 5, 2020 Cal. Compl.).

In addition to seeking declaratory judgments against eight ABDC affiliates, the California Action complaint also asserted claims for equitable contribution and equitable indemnification against 70 defendant-insurers. *See* SPApp.03185–86, ¶ 57–62. Several of those defendant insurers—including National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pa. ("National Union"); Arrowood Indemnity Company ("Arrowood"); and Hartford Casualty Insurance Company and Hartford Fire Insurance Company (together, "Hartford"), none of which are parties here—filed cross claims in the California Action. Each of these cross-plaintiffs sought a declaration that it has no duty to defend or indemnify AmerisourceBergen and its affiliates with respect to the thousands of underlying opioid lawsuits at issue in the California Action, and also

asserted claims for equitable contribution and equitable indemnification against St. Paul, ACE, and other insurers.⁴

Two weeks after the California Action was filed, AmerisourceBergen moved in the Circuit Court for an order "enjoin[ing] Defendant St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company . . . from pursuing collateral declaratory judgment litigation in California or elsewhere against ABDC regarding the disputes currently pending before this [Circuit] Court." SPApp.00246 (Nov. 19, 2020 Motion). Even though the injunction motion was directed only to St. Paul, the final paragraph of the motion asked for a sweeping injunction prohibiting "all other parties to this lawsuit from proceeding with the California Coverage Action or instituting any further collateral lawsuits regarding the issues pending before this [Circuit] Court." SPApp.00260, ¶ 61 (emphasis added).

On January 7, 2021, the Circuit Court granted AmerisourceBergen's motion.

SPApp.01956. According to that order, St. Paul in the California Action was "seek[ing] rulings regarding issues and cases that have been pending before [the Circuit Court] since [the filing of the complaint in the West Virginia Action], including issues and cases that are currently the subject of this Court's February 22, 2018 Stay Order." SPApp.01958, ¶ 8. The Circuit Court stated that St. Paul had employed an "artifice," with the "vexatious" purpose of interfering with the West Virginia Action and to "pursu[e] contradictory rulings." SPApp.01981–82, ¶¶ 135, 140. Based on that finding, the Circuit Court ruled that "[a]ll parties are hereby enjoined from

⁴ SPApp.02089 (National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA's Cross-Complaint For Declaratory Judgment, *St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Corp.*, No. 30-2020-01168930 (Cal. Super. Ct. Dec. 13, 2020)); SPApp.02210 (Arrowood Indemnity Co.'s Cross-Complaint For Declaratory Judgment, *St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Corp.*, No. 30-2020-01168930 (Cal. Super. Ct. Jan. 14, 2021)); SpApp.2294 (California Action Docket Sheet, noting Jan. 19, 2021 Cross-Complaint Filed by Hartford Casualty Insurance Company and Hartford Fire Insurance Company).

instituting or prosecuting any collateral litigation or other proceeding against one another relating to insurance coverage for the prescription opioid lawsuits against ABC, ABDC, or any other affiliated entity." SPApp.01985, ¶ 164 (emphasis added).

In addition, the Circuit Court offered AmerisourceBergen an opportunity to amend the pleadings "to ensure that all issues, parties, and insurance policies the parties believe are necessary to protect their legitimate interests are included in this action." SPApp.01985, ¶ 162. Instead, AmerisourceBergen "confirmed that [it] do[es] not intend to seek leave to amend [its] complaint to add other insurers, insurance policies, or additional underlying claims for decision by the Court in this proceeding." SPApp.11863 (Jan. 20, 2021 Letter to Judge Thompson).

C. This Court Holds That A Narrower Injunction Could Potentially Be Supported By The Circuit Court's Finding That St. Paul Filed The California Action For "Improper Purposes," But Finds The Injunction To Be Overbroad.

St. Paul and ACE each appealed the anti-suit injunction to this Court. On November 15, 2021, this Court issued a decision affirming in part, reversing in part, and remanding. First, this Court "h[e]ld that an anti-suit injunction is an order barring parties to an action in this state from instituting or prosecuting substantially similar litigation in another state. Whether the foreign state action is substantially similar involves assessing (1) the similarity of the parties; (2) the similarity of the issues; and (3) the capacity of the action in this state to dispose of the foreign state action." *St. Paul*, 868 S.E.2d at 734. The Court recognized, however, that "[a]n anti-suit injunction is an exceptional remedy" and "the principle of comity requires that a circuit court enter an anti-suit injunction cautiously and with restraint." *Id.* Accordingly, an anti-suit injunction may be appropriate only "when equity *compels* the circuit court: (1) to address a threat to the court's jurisdiction; (2) to prevent the evasion of an important public policy; (3) to prevent a multiplicity of suits that result in delay, inconvenience, expense, inconsistency, or will be a

'race to judgment'; or (4) to protect a party from vexatious, inequitable or harassing litigation." *Id.* (emphasis added).

With respect to the California Action, the Court found "no error" in the Circuit Court's conclusion that the California Action involved "competing, parallel litigation" to the West Virginia Action. *Id.* at 735. The Court found that "the circuit court could fairly conclude that the resolution of the West Virginia action would dispose of a portion of the California action, certainly as to the interpretation of the sixteen insurance policies" at issue here, "and possibly as to other policies." *Id.*

The Court then turned to whether the anti-suit injunction was proper "in light of principles of comity and equity." *Id.* The Court found that the "circuit court fairly concluded that St. Paul's parallel suit in California was filed for improper purposes, namely forum shopping and the disruption of the orderly resolution of the West Virginia suit." *Id.* at 736. Accordingly, the Court found no error in the decision to enter an anti-suit injunction considering the "threat to the court's jurisdiction" that the "improper" California Action posed. *Id.*

The Court also held that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in imposing the anti-suit injunction because the "[C]ircuit [C]ourt's order impairs the parties' ability to litigate, against each other or with third parties, over policies separate from the sixteen policies identified by ABDC." *Id.* at 737. The Court noted that "the California-only parties have proceeded to file cross-claims, counter-claims, and discovery requests" in the California action, "but the [C]ircuit [C]ourt's order precludes ABDC and the five insurers who are parties to the West Virginia action from effectively responding." *Id.* at 736. Thus, "despite the [C]ircuit [C]ourt's conclusion that St. Paul had questionable motives in filing its California Action, we find that the [C]ircuit [C]ourt's order should have clearly and finely tailored a connection between the relief sought in

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