IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SCA EFiled: Nov 28 2022 O4:29PM EST Transaction ID 68446736

ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants below / Petitioners,

v.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION and BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION,

Plaintiffs below / Respondents.

From the Circuit Court of Boone County, West Virginia Civil Action No. CC-03-2017-C-36

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION AND BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION'S BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In deciding the earlier appeal in this case, this Court held that an injunction is warranted to protect West Virginia's jurisdiction and compelling interest in determining whether the policies at issue provide coverage for the underlying claims brought by West Virginia entities without competing rulings from a foreign court. This Court then remanded for the circuit court to address the scope of the Injunction and clarify the grounds for its order. The circuit court did exactly that. After conducting additional fact-finding based on the substantially enhanced record, the circuit court imposed significant limitations on the scope of the Injunction and explained why the Injunction was necessary, but no broader than necessary, to protect West Virginia's interests.

On appeal, ACE argues that the circuit court should have enjoined the parties from litigating against each other *only* in California (where St. Paul filed suit for improper purposes) and not anywhere else, including Delaware. ACE is wrong. Where it is necessary to

protect the court's jurisdiction, the court may enjoin the parties from litigating anywhere outside of West Virginia—as long as the injunction is tailored to the circumstances of the case. If a West Virginia court were limited to enjoining litigation of the specific action that gave rise to the need for the injunction, litigants seeking to circumvent proceedings in West Virginia could just stop litigating that specific action and move on to another jurisdiction, which would then require the other party to seek another anti-suit injunction, causing precisely the disruption the injunction is designed to prevent.

Moreover, and contrary to ACE's contentions, the circuit court accounted for the pending Delaware action and the prospect that the parties might file suits in Delaware and elsewhere that would threaten the court's jurisdiction—and the circuit court rightly concluded that the existence of the Delaware action and the prospect of other collateral litigation provided further support for the Renewed Injunction. The circuit court acknowledged that "various insurers who had filed crossclaims against ABDC in St. Paul's California Coverage Action have now initiated claims against ABDC in the State of Delaware" and concluded that "the threat that Insurer Defendants will initiate new collateral coverage actions in one or more jurisdictions necessitates the entry of the Injunction to preserve this Court's jurisdiction over the issues in this case and ensure that the overall resolution of this case is not delayed or impeded by the issuance of contradictory rulings from other courts."

ACE argues that it will suffer substantial prejudice in Delaware if the Renewed Injunction remains in place, including being forced to "sit on the sidelines" while important issues are litigated. This is false. At present, no coverage issues are being litigated in Delaware while ABDC's motion to dismiss or stay the case is pending, and ACE and Arrowood have agreed that ACE need not respond to Arrowood's complaint until the

-24-

Delaware court resolves ABDC's motion. ACE is free to join ABDC's motion and articulate its concerns to the Delaware court. ACE's decision to stay silent in Delaware shows that its argument of being forced to "sit on the sidelines" in Delaware is a pretense. In any event, should the Delaware action move forward, the Renewed Injunction will not prevent ACE from litigating its dispute with Arrowood. The Renewed Injunction prevents ABDC and ACE from litigating the same or substantially similar disputes *against each other* in other forums. Allowing ACE to sue ABDC in Delaware regarding the same or substantially similar disputes—which ACE contends it should be permitted to do—would imperil the jurisdiction of the West Virginia courts and authorize still more forum shopping by the Insurer Defendants, which would undermine West Virginia's compelling interest in the resolution of this suit.

Finally, ACE contends that the Renewed Injunction is ambiguous as to the parties and policies that it covers. Not so. The Renewed Injunction clearly restricts "all parties" from litigating collateral actions pertaining to "policies issued to ABDC or its predecessors and affiliates" by "the Insurer Defendants in this case or their predecessors and affiliates" that are at issue in Phase 1 or 2 of this case or written on forms that are substantially similar to the forms at issue in this case.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

ABDC does not believe oral argument is needed because the issues are straightforward and the circuit court's opinion reflects a straightforward exercise of its discretion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review of a circuit court's decision to grant injunctive relief consists of a "three-pronged *deferential* standard of review." *State ex rel. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. v. Hill*, 214 W. Va. 760, 767, 591 S.E.2d 318, 325 (2003) (emphasis added). First, this Court

-25-

"review[s] the final order granting the ... injunction and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard." *Id.* (citing *West v. Nat'l Mines Corp.*, 168 W. Va. 578, 590, 285 S.E.2d 670, 678 (1981)). Second, this Court reviews the circuit court's underlying factual findings for clear error. *Id.* (citing *State by & Through McGraw v. Imperial Mktg.*, 196 W. Va. 346, 472 S.E.2d 792, Syl. Pt. 1 (1996)). Third, this Court reviews questions of law *de novo. Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. A Circuit Court Entering an Injunction is Guided by a Discretionary Standard

As this Court stated in its November 15, 2021 Opinion, "[a] circuit court entering an injunction is guided by the following discretionary standard":

The granting or refusal of an injunction ... calls for the exercise of sound judicial discretion in view of all the circumstances of the particular case; regard being had to the nature of the controversy, the object for which the injunction is being sought, and the comparative hardship or convenience to the respective parties involved in the award or denial of the writ.

St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 868 S.E.2d at 731 (quoting Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Baker*, 112 W. Va. 263, 164 S.E. 154 (1932)).

"[A]n anti-suit injunction is an order barring parties to an action in this state from instituting or prosecuting substantially similar litigation in another state." *Id.* at 734. "An antisuit injunction is an exceptional remedy but is appropriate when equity compels the circuit court: (1) to address a threat to the court's jurisdiction; (2) to prevent the evasion of an important public policy; (3) to prevent a multiplicity of suits that result in delay, inconvenience, expense, inconsistency, or will be a 'race to judgment'; or (4) to protect a party from vexatious, inequitable or harassing litigation." *Id*.

II. The Circuit Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Entering The Renewed Injunction

In November 2021, this Court held that an injunction is warranted in this action. In particular, this Court held that entry of the injunction is supported by four equitable factors. While any one of the four equitable factors standing alone would justify an anti-suit injunction, all four factors are present here.

First, an injunction protects the jurisdiction of the West Virginia courts. This case has been ongoing for five years. Twelve motions for summary judgment addressing every legal issue related to insurance coverage for prescription opioid liability lawsuits are pending before the circuit court for resolution, after which the circuit court will set the Phase 1 bellwether case for trial, if necessary. SPApp.00100-07; SPApp.13070-72. The Insurer Defendants' competing lawsuits threaten (and will continue to threaten) that jurisdiction. The injunction protects the West Virginia court from being required to determine (constantly) whether another court's ruling constrains the parties or requires the court to reanalyze its work and request supplemental briefing. Indeed, this Court already has concluded that an injunction is "needed to prevent a threat to the court's jurisdiction and ability to resolve the West Virginia suit." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 736.

And, as the circuit court recognized on remand, "notwithstanding that the California Coverage Action is not currently proceeding, an Injunction remains necessary to prevent the Insurer Defendants from instituting new collateral actions in other jurisdictions." SPApp.13035 ¶ 193.¹¹ "[V]arious insurers who had filed crossclaims against ABDC in St. Paul's California Coverage Action have now initiated claims against ABDC in the State of

¹¹ The next stay review hearing in California is scheduled for March 23, 2023.

Delaware." SPApp.13036 ¶ 196. If the Renewed Injunction is narrowed, the circuit court's jurisdiction would be imperiled by still more forum shopping, which would undermine West Virginia's compelling interest in the resolution of this suit without interference from collateral proceedings. *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 735-36.

Second, an injunction prevents the erosion of an important public policy. The Defendant Insurers' efforts to have coverage for the prescription opioid liability lawsuits determined elsewhere, despite the fact that the case was first filed in West Virginia, undermine important interests of this state. As this Court already has concluded, "the courts of this state have a compelling interest in determining whether the policies at issue in ABDC's West Virginia suit provide coverage for the underlying claims brought by West Virginia entities, without competing rulings from a foreign court." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 736. This has not changed.

Third, the injunction prevents a multiplicity of suits that will result in a race to judgment and risk inconsistent rulings. As this Court recognized, an injunction is required "to prevent a multiplicity of suits filed with the intent of causing delay, expense and inconsistent judgments." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 736. The Defendant Insurers are currently colluding with their purported adversaries in California and Delaware to circumvent the West Virginia injunction (and California stay) and, on appeal, the Defendant Insurers admit their desire to pursue claims against ABDC in other jurisdictions. *See* St. Paul Brief at 35; ACE Brief at 25.

Fourth, the injunction protects the parties from vexatious, inequitable, and harassing litigation. The Defendant Insurers have already shown their willingness to file suits in other forums "for improper purposes, namely forum shopping and the disruption of the orderly

resolution of the West Virginia [Coverage Action]." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 736. St. Paul, in fact, has "admitted its intent to pursue other claims in other jurisdictions if the Injunction is lifted or narrowed." SPApp.13035 ¶ 194. Nothing has changed since this Court endorsed the circuit court's conclusion in this regard. Without the injunction, the Defendant Insurers will be free to pursue similar vexatious litigation in other jurisdictions.

Further to the point that equitable principles support the circuit court's Renewed Injunction, the injunction is limited in ways that precisely address this Court's concerns. This Court asked the circuit court to address "why [it] precluded the litigation of *any* issues between the parties, if those issues were unrelated to the interpretation of the sixteen insurance policies at issue in the West Virginia action." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 737 (emphasis in original). To answer this question and address this concern, the circuit court clarified that the injunction will apply only to collateral suits concerning:

- "insurance policies issued to ABDC or its predecessors and affiliates";
- "insurance policies issued by the Insurer Defendants in this case or their predecessors and affiliates";
- "insurance policies that are either expressly at issue in this case, that are implicitly at issue in this case by virtue of the temporal scope of the claims asserted in the cases that make up Phase 2 of this case, which include all of defendants' policies back to at least January 1, 1996, and/or that are written on forms that are substantially similar to the forms at issue in this case, or that follow form to such insurance policies"; and
- "insurance coverage for prescription opioid liability lawsuits of the same types that have been included in the National Opioid MDL or the West Virginia Opioid MLP"

SPApp.13040-41.

In other words, the Renewed Injunction does not preclude the litigation of issues that

are "unrelated" to the policies at issue in this lawsuit. Instead, the Renewed Injunction is expressly limited to issues related those insurance policies already before the circuit court and policies written on forms that are substantially similar to the forms at issue in this case or that follow form to such insurance policies.

This Court also asked whether the Injunction "precluded the parties from pursuing some agreed-upon resolution of the California action, or a resolution from the California court such as a stay or dismissal." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 737. To address this, the circuit court clarified that "nothing in the Injunction will preclude any party from seeking a compromise resolution of any claims, whether through settlement or otherwise." SPApp.13041. And indeed, St. Paul has already voluntarily dismissed nearly every single insurer defendant—including all insurer-defendants in this lawsuit—from the California action (to the extent it served those defendants in the first place). SPApp.13076.

This is a simple matter. This Court has confirmed the need for an injunction, and the circuit court issued a Renewed Injunction that addressed all of the considerations this Court asked it to address on remand—and did so in a way that fully comports with West Virginia law and reflects a proper exercise of the circuit court's discretion. Affirmance is warranted.

III. ACE's Arguments Lack All Merit

As explained below and contrary to ACE's contentions: (A) the circuit court properly enjoined ACE from suing ABDC over the same or similar policies in all other forums, including Delaware; (B) the Renewed Injunction creates no unfair prejudice to ACE with respect to the Delaware action; and (C) the Renewed Injunction properly binds all parties and covers collateral litigation regarding insurance policies issued by the Insurer Defendants or their predecessors and affiliates.

-30-

A. The Circuit Court Properly Enjoined ACE from Suing ABDC Over the Same or Similar Policies in All Other Forums, Including Delaware

ACE argues that a court may enjoin the parties from litigating *only* those specific actions that already have been filed (improperly) in other courts—an argument that ACE declined to raise on appeal of the original injunction. According to ACE, the circuit court may have acted within its discretion by enjoining the parties from litigating against each other in California, where St. Paul filed a duplicative action for improper purposes, but the circuit court did not act within its discretion by enjoining the parties from litigating against each other elsewhere, including in Delaware. ACE contends that "[r]egardless of whether the Circuit Court substantiated such a connection [between the parties and bad-faith conduct] to the California Action, it is plain that it failed to do so as to the Delaware Actions" because "the order's only mention of the Delaware Actions was to note their existence." ACE Brief at 20. ACE is wrong on numerous levels.

First, courts need not style an anti-suit injunction to restrict the parties from litigating only the specific actions that were the impetus for the anti-suit injunction in the first place. It is no surprise that ACE has not previously raised this argument—because no legal authority supports it. Although one party's attempt to re-litigate issues outside of West Virginia can serve as a basis for a West Virginia court's conclusion that an anti-suit injunction is necessary to protect the court's jurisdiction, the West Virginia court need not restrict its injunction to any specific action. Instead, where it is necessary to protect the court's jurisdiction, the court may enjoin the parties from litigating anywhere outside of West Virginia—as long as the injunction is tailored to the circumstances of the case. *See St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 868 S.E.2d at 737. The threat to a West Virginia court's jurisdiction can come from any court that issues

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